# SUPREME COURT FILED

#### Case No. S215614

APR 11 2014

Frank A. McGuire Clerk

Deputy

IN THE SUPREME COURT
OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

# NYKEYA KILBY,

Plaintiff/Petitioner,

v.

# CVS PHARMACY, INC,

Defendant/Respondent.

# KEMAH HENDERSON, et al.

Plaintiffs/Petitioners,

v.

# JPMORGAN CHASE BANK, et al.

Defendant/Respondent.

On Certified Questions from the United States Court of Appeals for the Ninth Circuit Pursuant to California Rule of Court 8.548
Ninth Circuit Case Nos. 12-56130 and 13-56095

#### PETITIONERS' OPENING BRIEF

\*MICHAEL RUBIN (#80618) CONNIE K. CHAN (#284230) ALTSHULER BERZON LLP 177 Post Street, Suite 300 San Francisco, CA 94108 Telephone: (415) 421-7151

# QUESTIONS PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

This Court has accepted certification of several questions concerning the proper interpretation of California's "suitable seating" law, which provides: "All working employees shall be provided with suitable seats when the nature of the work reasonably permits the use of seats." 8 CCR \$\$11040(14)(A), 11070(14)(A).

As set forth in the Ninth Circuit's order requesting certification, the questions to be decided are:

- 1) Does the phrase "nature of the work" refer to an individual task or duty that an employee performs during the course of his or her workday, or should courts construe "nature of the work" holistically and evaluate the entire range of an employee's duties?
  - a) If the courts should construe "nature of the work" holistically, should the courts consider the entire range of an employee's duties if more than half of an employee's time is spent performing tasks that reasonably allow the use of a seat?
- 2) When determining whether the nature of the work "reasonably permits" the use of a seat, should courts consider any or all of the following: the employer's business judgment as to whether the employee should stand, the physical layout of the workplace, or the physical characteristics of the employee?
- 3) If an employer has not provided any seat, does a plaintiff need to prove what would constitute "suitable seats" to show the employer has violated  $\S14(A)$ ?<sup>1</sup>/

Alternative formulations of these questions were set forth in plaintiffs' January 22, 2014 letter brief in support of certification, pursuant to Rule 8.548(e)(1).

#### INTRODUCTION

These certified questions arise in two cases that were argued to a panel of the Ninth Circuit on December 2, 2013. The first case was brought as a class action by plaintiff Nykeya Kilby, a former CVS Pharmacy Clerk/Cashier, who alleged that CVS violated Wage Order 7-2001 §14(A) by failing to provide seating for its cashiers at the checkout cash registers where those cashiers performed such standard check-out functions as scanning and bagging merchandise, processing customer payments, and handing customers their receipts. See Kilby v. CVS Pharmacy, Inc. (9th Cir. No. 12-56130). The second case was brought as a class action by plaintiffs Kemah Henderson, Taquonna Lampkins, Carolyn Salazar, and Tamanna Dalton, all current or former JPMorgan Chase Bank ("Chase") tellers, who alleged that Chase violated Wage Order 4-2001 §14(A) by failing to provide seating at its teller counters where its tellers conducted such customer transactions as accepting deposits, cashing checks, and handling withdrawals. See Henderson et al. v. JP Morgan Chase Bank, N.A. (9th Cir. No. 13-56095).

The trial courts in both *CVS* and *Chase* denied class certification, and the trial court in *CVS* also granted summary judgment against plaintiff Kilby. In both cases, the courts construed §14(A) very narrowly, concluding that covered employees are only entitled to suitable seating under California law if: 1) all, or at least a majority, of the employee's assigned work tasks permit the use of seats; 2) the employer, in its "business judgment," agrees that its employee may work while seated; and 3) the employee has identified a particular type or make of seat that is "suitable."<sup>2/</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup>/<sub>2</sub> Both CVS and Chase were brought pursuant to the Labor Code (continued...)

Plaintiffs proposed a far more practical construction of §14(A) that was based on the plain language of the Wage Order and the stated purpose of promoting worker health, welfare, and comfort. Under plaintiffs' construction, §14(A) requires California employers to provide suitable seating to covered employees whenever those employees are performing work that, viewed objectively, can reasonably be performed while seated, even if those employees are assigned other additional job tasks during the course of their shifts that cannot reasonably be performed while seated. So construed, §14(A) embodies the IWC's intent to ensure that employers provide seating to "all" covered employees during the periods of time ("when") those employees are engaged in tasks that, based on the inherent attributes of those tasks - such as their physical requirements, how long they take to perform, and how frequently they are performed ("the nature of the work") - objectively can be performed from a seated position ("reasonably permits the use of seats"). Plaintiffs also demonstrated that §14(A) does not impose any burden on employees to request a specific type or model of seat; and for that reason, that an employer's failure to provide any seating where suitable seating is required establishes the employer's prima facie liability.

Private Attorneys General Act of 2004 ("PAGA"), Labor Code §2698 et seq., which creates a private right of action for any "aggrieved employee" to seek civil penalties, on behalf of him or herself and other current or former employees, for violations of certain provisions of the Labor Code.

Although PAGA claims may proceed without class certification, Arias v. Superior Court (2009) 46 Cal.4th 969, 981 & n.5, plaintiffs in these cases chose to proceed on a class action basis. A third case involving similar claims was also argued before the Ninth Circuit on the same day as CVS and Chase, but the Ninth Circuit did not seek certification of the statutory construction issue in that case, Brown v. Wal-Mart Stores, Inc. (9th Cir. 12-17623), in which the district court had granted class certification to plaintiff cashiers asserting §14(A) claims.

#### FACTUAL AND PROCEDURAL BACKGROUND

# I. Statutory and Regulatory Framework

In 1913, the California Legislature established the Industrial Welfare Commission (IWC), which it authorized to regulate the wages, hours, and working conditions of California workers for the purpose of protecting worker health and welfare. See Indus. Welfare Comm'n v. Superior Court (1980) 27 Cal.3d 690, 700-01. The IWC was "vested with broad statutory authority to investigate 'the comfort, health, safety, and welfare' of the California employees under its aegis...and to establish...'[t]he standard conditions of labor demanded by the health and welfare of [such employees]." Id. (citations omitted). Although the IWC's original mission was focused on promoting the health and welfare of women and minors, the Legislature in 1973 broadened the IWC's jurisdiction (without any change to the substance of its mandate) "to establish minimum wages, maximum hours and standard conditions of employment for all employees in the state, men as well as women." Id.

The Legislature authorized the IWC to promulgate a series of Wage Orders to establish minimum "standard conditions of labor," which are incorporated by reference into Labor Code §1198. Seventeen of those Wage Orders are industry- or occupation-specific, and include the two Wage Orders at issue: Wage Order 4-2001, which applies to all persons employed in "professional, technical, clerical, mechanical, and similar occupations;" and Wage Order 7-2001, which applies to all persons employed in the "mercantile industry."

Section 14 of the applicable Wage Orders imposes an affirmative obligation on employers in covered industries to provide suitable seating to their "working" employees. The suitable seating provisions in Wage Order

4-2001 and Wage Order 7-2001 are identical, and require in mandatory terms:

- (A) All working employees shall be provided with suitable seats when the nature of the work reasonably permits the use of seats.
- (B) When employees are not engaged in the active duties of their employment and the nature of the work requires standing, an adequate number of suitable seats shall be placed in reasonable proximity to the work area and employees shall be permitted to use such seats when it does not interfere with the performance of their duties.

This language has not changed since 1980. *See* ER 54-56, 107, 111, 126, 147, 168-69. Identical "seating" requirements are mandated by 14 of the industry- or occupation-specific Wage Orders. *See* 8 CCR §11010(14) (manufacturing industry); *id.* §11020(14) (personal service industry); *id.* §11030(14) (canning, freezing, and preserving industry); *id.* §11050(14) (public housekeeping industry); *id.* §11060(14) (laundry, linen supply, dry cleaning, and dyeing industry); *id.* §11080(14) (industries handling products after harvest); *id.* §11090(14) (transportation industry); *id.* §11100(14) (amusement and recreation industry); *id.* §11110(14) (broadcasting industry); *id.* §11120(14) (motion picture industry); *id.* §11130(14) (industries preparing agricultural products for market, on the farm); *id.* §11150(14) (household occupations).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup>/ All citations to "ER" refer to the Excerpts of Record submitted to the Ninth Circuit in *CVS*. All citations to "*Chase*-ER" refer to the Excerpts of Record submitted to the Ninth Circuit in *Chase*.

Two other Wage Orders (Wage Order 14-2001, covering "agricultural occupations," and Wage Order 16-2001, covering "on-site occupations in the construction, drilling, logging and mining industries") contain seating mandates, but in different, industry-specific terms. See 8 CCR §11140(13) ("When the nature of the work reasonably permits the use (continued...)

Before 2004, no private right of action existed for aggrieved employees to enforce the seating requirement in any of these Wage Orders. Instead, §14 was previously enforceable only by the California Labor Commissioner, see Labor Code §§1193.5, 1194.5; and like many other laws governing the workplace that were only enforceable through State-initiated litigation, enforcement was sporadic and the law was frequently ignored. See Arias, 46 Cal.4th at 980; Home Depot U.S.A., Inc. v. Superior Court (2010) 191 Cal.App.4th 210, 223-24.

The Legislature enacted PAGA, the Labor Code Private Attorneys General Act of 2004 (Labor Code §2698 et seq., Stats. 2003, ch. 906, §2, eff. Jan. 1, 2004), in 2003 after finding that the Labor Commissioner "was failing to effectively enforce labor law violations" because the State's enforcement agencies were understaffed and inadequately funded. Sen. Rules Comm. Floor Analysis, S.B. 796, 2003-04 Reg. Sess. (Sept. 11, 2003); see Stats. 2003, S.B. No. 796, §1. PAGA created a private right of action, allowing aggrieved employees to sue on behalf of themselves, the State, and their co-workers, to recover civil penalties for each pay period in which their employers violated Labor Code and IWC Wage Order provisions that previously only the Labor Commissioner could enforce. See Labor Code §2699(a), (f); Home Depot, 191 Cal.App.4th at 221-22, 226 (employer's noncompliance with suitable seating requirements of Wage

of seats, suitable seats shall be provided for employees working on or at a machine."); *id.* §11160(12) ("Where practicable and consistent with applicable industry-wide standards, all working employees shall be provided with suitable seats when the nature and the process of the work performed reasonably permits the use of seats. This section shall not exceed regulations promulgated by the Occupational Safety and Health Standards Board."). Wage Order 17-2001, covering certain "Miscellaneous Employees," has no seating provision. *See id.* §11170. There is a separate Minimum Wage Order, which has no such provision either. *See id.* §11000.

Order 7-2001 §14(A) violates Labor Code §1198 and may be enforced through PAGA private action); *Bright v. 99¢ Only Stores* (2010) 189 Cal.App.4th 1472, 1478-79, 1481 (same). Under PAGA, aggrieved employees are entitled to 25% of the civil penalties recovered, with the remaining 75% paid to the California Labor and Workforce Development Agency to be used for increased labor law enforcement and training. Labor Code §2699(i).

The declared purpose of PAGA was "to supplement enforcement actions by public agencies, which lack adequate resources to bring all such actions themselves." *Arias*, 46 Cal.4th at 986. Because "[a]n employee plaintiff suing, as here, under the Labor Code Private Attorneys General Act of 2004, does so as the proxy or agent of the state's labor law enforcement agencies," an action to recover civil penalties under PAGA "is fundamentally a law enforcement action designed to protect the public and not to benefit private parties." *Id.* (quoting *People v. Pac. Land Research Co.* (1977) 20 Cal.3d 10, 17).

# II. Plaintiffs Presented Evidence That Their Employers Failed to Provide Any Seating For Employees Performing Stationary Work at Fixed Locations.

Because PAGA penalties accrue per pay period, plaintiffs seeking to obtain the full recovery of civil penalties permitted by PAGA need only establish that their employer failed to provide suitable seating at least once during any given pay period when the nature of the work reasonably permitted the use of seats. See Labor Code §2699(f)(2). Plaintiffs in CVS and Chase presented an abundance of evidence establishing that they regularly performed work that reasonably permitted the use of seats. Yet their employers never provided them any seating.

///

### A. The Evidence in Kilby v. CVS Pharmacy, Inc.

Plaintiff Kilby sued CVS on behalf of herself and approximately 17,000 other current or former CVS "Clerk/Cashiers" in California who were not provided with any seating when operating CVS's front-end cash registers. ER 786. Although CVS admitted that it provided workstation seating as a medical accommodation to its Clerk/Cashiers who were temporarily unable to stand while working, CVS otherwise had an undisputed policy that required all Clerk/Cashiers in its California retail stores to stand throughout their work day, except during meal periods and rest breaks. *See* ER 920-21.

The record evidence establishes that Ms. Kilby spent approximately 90% of her time operating a cash register at the front of the store. ER 697, 847-60. Her primary tasks while stationed at the cash register were standard checkout functions, namely scanning and bagging merchandise, processing customer payments, and handing customers their receipts. ER 697, 847-60. The rest of her work time – typically at the beginning and end of each shift – was spent on unrelated tasks (for which she does not assert any entitlement to seating) such as gathering shopping carts and re-stocking display cases. ER 249, 697.

Thirty CVS Clerk/Cashiers submitted declarations in support of Ms. Kilby's motion for class certification (and re-submitted those declarations in opposition to CVS's motion for summary judgment as to Ms. Kilby's individual seating claim), attesting that they, too, spent most of their shifts stationed at the cash register performing routine checkout functions.<sup>5</sup>/

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup>/ See ER 705-06, 708, 710, 713, 715, 718, 721, 724, 727, 730-31, 733-34, 736, 738, 740-41, 743, 745-46, 748-49, 751-52, 754, 757, 759, 761, 763, 766, 769, 772, 775, 778, 780, 783. Although Clerk/Cashiers stationed at the cash register occasionally need to leave their workstations, for (continued...)

CVS's own declarant, a CVS store manager, confirmed that even "[o]n slow days, the primary clerk/cashier may ... be ringing [up customer transactions] 75% of the time," while "[o]n busier days, a primary cashier might ring customer transactions approximately 85-90% of their shift." ER 684. A shift for a CVS Clerk/Cashier can last for as long as nine hours. See, e.g., ER 677, 727, 743.

Ms. Kilby introduced considerable evidence that the nature of a CVS Clerk/Cashier's work while stationed at the cash register reasonably permits the use of seats. For example, seven CVS Clerk/Cashiers submitted declarations that they actually *had* performed their checkout functions successfully when permitted on occasion to use a chair or stool as a medical accommodation. *See* ER 710, 730, 740, 745-46, 769-70, 775-76, 783-84. Ms. Kilby also offered an expert report by an industrial and workplace ergonomics expert, Professor Steven L. Johnson, who concluded based on his observations of several CVS stores that the duties of a CVS Clerk/Cashier while operating a cash register reasonably permit the use of a seat. ER 26, 1021-33. Prof. Johnson also noted in his expert report that many supermarket and retail stores throughout Europe and Korea provide seating for their cashiers, further demonstrating that checkout functions performed by retail store cashiers like plaintiff can reasonably be performed from a seated position. ER 1018, 1027.

In response, CVS pointed to its own training and policy materials, which directed its Clerk/Cashiers to stand at all times including while

example, to retrieve tobacco and other controlled merchandise, or to scan unusually large items that will not fit on the checkout counter, many Clerk/Cashiers testified that this happens only a "few times each shift." ER 713, 721, 736, 761, 766, 772, 778, 780. Others similarly testified that these duties occur only infrequently during the time Clerk/Cashiers are assigned to operate the cash register. *See* ER 710, 724, 730, 733, 745, 748, 751, 757.

ringing up customers at the cash register. CVS asked the district court to defer to its "business judgment that employees, including Clerk/Cashiers, best provide customer service by standing, as opposed to sitting or leaning." ER 200. However, CVS did not cite any evidence – such as actual surveys or studies regarding customer perceptions of seated cashiers or the impact, if any, of seating cashiers on checkout efficiency – to establish anything more than its naked belief that standing cashiers provide better customer service. See ER 300, 306-08, 904-05, 930-31. The objective evidence established (or at the very least created a genuine dispute) that the nature of a CVS Clerk/Cashier's checkout work at the cash register reasonably permits the use of seats.

# B. The Evidence in Henderson v. JPMorgan Chase Bank

Plaintiffs Henderson *et al.* sued Chase on behalf of themselves and approximately 8,000 other current and former Chase bank tellers in California, based on the bank's classwide policy of not providing seats at the teller counters for tellers to use while assisting customers with financial transactions. Although Chase tellers perform a small number of discrete job duties away from the teller counter that require standing or movement (such as opening and closing the branch, occasionally walking to the vault, or maintaining the ATM (*see Chase*-ER 291-95) – tasks for which plaintiffs do *not* assert any entitlement to seating) – the district court found that the vast majority (at least 50%, and in many cases as much as 90%) of the Chase tellers' total work time is spent at the teller counters assisting customers. *Chase*-ER 13. Chase has a nationwide policy, applicable to all 900-plus California branches, not to provide any seating to its tellers. *Chase*-ER 301-02.

In support of class certification, plaintiffs submitted considerable evidence that the duties commonly performed by tellers at Chase's teller

counters can reasonably be performed while seated. According to Chase's own corporate designee, the essential and most common job duty for Chase tellers is to assist customers at the teller counter by accepting deposits, cashing checks, and handling withdrawals. *Chase*-ER 285-87; *see also Chase*-ER 296-99. Plaintiffs and other Chase tellers submitted declarations confirming that tellers spend most of their time performing those tasks. *See Chase*-ER 350, 355, 360, 365, 370, 375, 380, 385, 390. Performing these basic teller functions does not regularly require tellers to walk about, as the office tools and materials used most frequently by Chase tellers (such as the computer, cash drawer, PIN pad, card reader, sorting bins, scanner, and receipt printer) are physically located on the teller counter within arm's reach. *Chase*-ER 42, 44, 46, 272-73, 275-82, 393-94.

That Chase tellers could reasonably perform their teller-counter work while seated is further demonstrated by the undisputed fact, acknowledged by another corporate designee, that Chase has in the past provided teller stools as a medical accommodation to hundreds of its tellers for use at the teller counter, and that those tellers successfully performed their essential teller-counter functions even while seated. See, e.g., Chase-ER 351, 361, 366. Moreover, tellers are permitted to sit at many of Chase's competitor banks in California, including Wells Fargo, Citibank, and Union Bank. See, e.g., Chase-ER 345, 350, 355, 360, 365, 370. In fact, tellers were provided seats in the very Washington Mutual branches that Chase acquired when it first entered the California market in 2008, which seats Chase affirmatively chose to remove as part of its branch re-design. See Chase-ER 309-14. Indeed, the practice of providing seats for bank tellers is so commonplace throughout the banking industry that manufacturers have designed and marketed a stool specifically for use by tellers, called the Steelcase Teller Stool (Criterion). According to Chase's occupational health nurse manager

and corporate designee, the Steelcase Teller Stool "is a stool that is standard to be purchased for a [Chase] teller in any state, including California, if it is an approved accommodation." *Chase-*ER 322.

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