#### No. S215614

#### SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

NYKEYA KILBY, individually and on behalf of all others similarly situated,

Plaintiff-Petitioner,

v.

CVS PHARMACY, INC.

JUN 1 3 2003 Stank A Absolute Clerk reputy

STIPREME COURT

Defendant-Respondent.

Questions Certified by Request of the United States Court of Appeals for the Ninth Circuit Case No. 12-56130

#### **DEFENDANT-RESPONDENT CVS PHARMACY, INC.'S** ANSWER BRIEF

TIMOTHY J. LONG (SB 137591) ORRICK, HERRINGTON & SUTCLIFFE LLP 400 Capitol Mall **Suite 3000** Sacramento, CA 95814-4407

Tel: (916) 329-7919

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

In response, the IWC made the provision gender neutral in 1976 and instituted for the first time the reasonableness standard that Section 14 contains today. (ER 54, 107.) Under subsection (a), all employees were to be provided with suitable seats when the nature of the work "reasonably" permitted. (*Ibid.* [emphasis added].) Under subsection (b), employees whose work required standing were to be provided suitable seats within a "reasonable" proximity to the work area. (*Ibid.* [emphasis added].) The IWC also summarized that the suitability of a seat depends on the nature of the "job" as a whole, which either permits seats or requires standing. (RJN, Exh. 1, p. 3.) The IWC has not substantively changed the provision since, except to loosen the requirements under Section 14(B) to apply only "when it does not interfere with the performance of [employees'] duties." (ER 55–56, 111, 115.)

As the legislative history demonstrates, the IWC did not intend the seats provision as the main mechanism for addressing prolonged standing. Rather, the meal and rest breaks now contained in separate sections of the Wage Orders were meant to do so. The DLSE acknowledged as much in a 1986 opinion letter, stating that "[m]any positions do require employees to be standing for long periods of time" and "some employees are required to perform relatively laborious work, which has resulted in the establishment of mandatory rest periods." (SER 252.) CVS's reading of the seat provision does not gut the intended protections against prolonged standing, contrary to Kilby's suggestion, because employees either (1) are entitled to a suitable seat during their work if Section 14(A) applies or (2) are entitled to a suitable seat when they are not actively engaged in their duties if (See ante, section II-B.) In either situation, Section 14(B) applies. employees are entitled to mandatory meal and rest breaks, which allow employees to sit (if desired) on a regular basis.

Along these lines, concerns about the health risks of standing raised by Kilby are unhelpful in interpreting the seats provision. As discussed, employees have regular opportunities to sit during their shift without Kilby's isolated duty approach. Further, although Kilby cites studies about the health risks of continual standing, those concerns are counterbalanced by other studies demonstrating that prolonged sitting is bad for health. The IWC has already made its determination on the proper balance between sitting and standing by recognizing that some jobs require extended standing and providing for seats during lulls, if any, and breaks.

## E. The "nature of the work" must take into account, among other things, the employer's expectations of what duties will be performed.

The analysis of the "nature of the work" must also take into consideration the employer's legitimate expectations for what duties will be performed. The Wage Orders are meant to address the conditions of employment, not interfere with the employer's prerogative as to the duties that it requires of its employees. As the DLSE has recognized, "an employee's job duties are defined by the employer in an employment relationship." (MJN, Exh. A, p. 4.) If there is a genuine dispute over whether such duties are actually required, courts can engage in the necessary fact-finding. (Compare ibid. [discussing an "objective evaluation" of the required duties, based on the employer's expectations and the actual duties performed], with OB at p. 27 [suggesting that employers could avoid Section 14(A) "simply by adding one or more

See Steve Lohr, Taking a Stand for Office Ergonomics, N.Y. Times, Dec. 1, 2012, available at http://www.nytimes.com/2012/12/02/business/stand-up-desks-gaining-favor-in-the-workplace.html [discussing studies finding that "the health hazards of sitting for long stretches are significant even for people who are quite active when they're not sitting down"]; Neville Owen, et al., Too much sitting: a novel and important predictor of chronic disease risk? (2009) 43 Br J Sports Med 81-83, available at http://bjsm.bmj.com/content/43/2/81 [noting that significant adverse health effects may result from sitting during periods of non-exercise].)

standing-only tasks to every employee's job description"].) On the other hand, substituting the court's judgment or an employee's judgment for an employer's would turn the employment relationship on its head. (See *post*, section II-A.) If courts do not consider the employer's expectations, then plaintiffs who are not performing the job to the employer's expectations could argue that they are entitled to a seat based on the way they *want* to perform their job, not the way they were hired to perform it. As stated by the DLSE, the "nature of an employee's work" should be determined based on "the duties intended or expected of employees by their employers and the actual duties and work performed by employees." (MJN, Exh. A, p. 4.)

# II. "NATURE OF THE WORK" MUST ACKNOWLEDGE DISRUPTIVE TRANSITIONS BETWEEN DUTIES AND, THUS, CANNOT BE REDUCED TO A MERE QUANTITATIVE TEST OF THE TOTAL TIME SPENT ON SITTING-PERMITTED DUTIES.

The parties agree that certified Question 1(a) proposes an unsuitable quantitative test. (OB at p. 30.) From CVS's perspective, a quantitative test artificially ignores the fact that sitting-permitted tasks are often intermixed with standing-required tasks, and it fails to account for whether the transitions between these tasks reasonably permit the use of seats.

The extent to which employees pivot between duties was demonstrated in the *Garvey* suitable seats case, which involved retail store cashiers, as here. After a bench trial, the district court found that:

In sum, most of the tasks done by a Kmart cashier could be done while seated but some tasks can only be done while standing. Standing tasks include processing heavy, large, and/or awkward items; scanning items in a customer's cart with the hand scanner; looking inside closed items in a customer's cart; straightening the checkout lane when customers are not present; and retrieving additional change for the cash register. While these are a minority of the time, they nonetheless occur so frequently when the checkout lane is busy that cashiers must be standing many times over the

course of an hour. Put differently, even if seating were allowed, cashiers would be up (and down) frequently to perform the tasks that require standing.

(Garvey, supra, 2012 WL 6599534, at p. \*7.) Garvey illustrates that the nature of the work might not permit sitting even if most of the tasks could be done while seated.

Kilby concedes that this is true. In her own words, "it may not be reasonable to provide workstation seating to an employee whose work requires her to alternate rapidly among brief, discrete tasks, only some of which could be performed while seated, if allowing her to sit during those fleeting or ephemeral seating-permitted tasks would yield constant workflow disruptions or physically prevent her from performing her other assigned tasks." (OB at p. 30.) Although Kilby attempts to cabin her concession to instances where seating-permitted tasks are "fleeting," the logic behind it applies much more broadly. As *Garvey* illustrates, the transitions between duties can be disruptive even if most of the work could be performed while seated. Kilby fails to explain how her duty-by-duty approach would take these disruptive transitions into account.

Instead, Kilby picks the other extreme, where employees have few or no disruptive transitions, to support her approach. (OB at pp. 31–32.) Kilby poses three hypothetical jobs where employees spend an extended period of time on a sitting-permitted task, and then spend an extended period of time on a standing-required task. (*Ibid.*) Kilby points out that simply measuring the time spent on each task would be a poor proxy for whether the employees could reasonably use a seat. (*Ibid.*) CVS agrees. The holistic approach—as adopted by the DLSE, applied by the district court here, and advocated by CVS—is not quantitative, but rather takes into consideration the totality of the circumstances.

The totality of the circumstances/holistic approach and Kilby's isolated duty approach may lead to the same result in some cases, but for different reasons. Under the former approach, courts must consider all duties holistically, plus transitions between duties, plus the remaining relevant factors such as the employer's business reasons for having employees stand, the layout of the workplace, and the feasibility of a suitable seat, as discussed below. For example, the hypothetical security guard, Jake, who watches security monitors in a secure room for four hours and then patrols for five hours may be entitled to a seat while watching the monitors. (OB at p. 31.) Under the holistic approach, it would depend on whether there are disruptive standing-required tasks mixed in while Jake watches the monitors and whether the employer has a legitimate business reason for requiring the guard to stand, along with any other relevant circumstances. Similarly, Sandy at the amusement park may be entitled to a seat while operating the ticket booth window. (Ibid.) But under the holistic approach, it would depend in part on how much Sandy needs to lean over the booth to collect money, whether a seat could be safely and practically introduced into the ticket booth, and whether the employer has legitimate reasons for requiring standing (such as a better view for monitoring anyone sneaking into the park, or projecting a more efficient and attentive image to customers). The same factors are relevant to whether the bookstore workers are entitled to a seat while assigned to the customer information counter. (Ibid.) The holistic test does not necessarily preclude the use of a seat during a work period. However, it only permits it if the totality of the circumstances reasonably allows the use of a seat.

In this case, the totality of the circumstances would not allow Kilby to use a seat at the cashier stand, as the district court found. To begin, even though Kilby spent a majority of time at the cash register, it was undisputed that a number of her duties at the cash register could not be performed

while seated, and many of her duties were standing-required duties to be performed whenever there were no customers at the cash register. (*Kilby v. CVS Pharm., Inc., supra*, 2012 WL 1969284, at pp. \*2, 6.) Thus, unlike the hypotheticals she presents, Kilby did not have long uninterrupted stretches of an isolated sitting-permitted duty. Moreover, just as the DLSE would, the district court also considered CVS's business judgment that standing at the cash register projects attentiveness and efficiency. (*Id.* at p. \*6.) As the uncontroverted evidence showed, CVS received customer complaints when employees used a seat during their active duties. (SER 217–23, 229–30.) Taken together, these factors established that the nature of Kilby's work required standing. (*Kilby v. CVS Pharm., Inc., supra*, 2012 WL 1969284, at p. \*6.)

# III. THE PHRASE "REASONABLY PERMITS" IS THE TOUCHSTONE OF THE SEATING REQUIREMENT AND, AS THE DLSE HAS EXPLAINED, TAKES INTO ACCOUNT THE TOTALITY OF THE CIRCUMSTANCES, INCLUDING THE EMPLOYER'S BUSINESS JUDGMENT FOR REQUIRING STANDING.

The phrase "reasonably permits" is the touchstone of Section 14(A) and cannot be divorced from "nature of the work." The DLSE has explained that "a reasonableness standard" governs the entire evaluation of whether the "nature of the work reasonably permits the use of seats." (MJN, Exh. A, p. 3.) Similarly, one of the only published California Court of Appeal cases to address Section 14 (no published cases have interpreted) has recognized that Section 14 is "framed as an affirmative standard of reasonable conduct." (*Home Depot U.S.A., Inc. v. Superior Court* (2010) 191 Cal.App.4th 210, 221–222.) Further, the IWC has emphasized that Section 14 was intended to be "subject to administrative judgment as to what is reasonable" and "the [DLSE] has reasonably enforced it." (RJN, Exh. 2, p. 16.)

In certified Question 2, the Ninth Circuit identified factors that could help a court determine whether the nature of the work "reasonably permits" the use of a seat. These include the employer's business judgment, the physical layout of the workplace, and the physical characteristics of the employee. The DLSE specifically recognized these first two factors in describing its totality of the circumstances test. (MJN, Exh. A, p. 4.) While this list is not exhaustive, each of the specific factors listed by the Ninth Circuit should be applied by courts.

## A. Courts already defer to business judgment in other employment contexts and objectively evaluate the legitimacy of the employer's business judgment without second-guessing it.

There are several concerns that may lead an employer to require standing, such as customer service and efficiency. These concerns can be evaluated on an objective basis as to whether they are legitimate or pretextual and, while not controlling, must be accorded deference to the extent that they are a part of the employee's job. Otherwise, the suitable seats provision could effectively override the employer's role in defining the job. As demonstrated above, the seats provision was intended to allow for sitting if reasonable under the current specifications of the job, not to change the nature of almost every job in every industry to permit sitting in part or in whole.

Customer service concerns are intuitive and documented. In this case, as discussed, CVS put into evidence that stores received customer complaints when employees were sitting down because the customers did not feel that the employees were providing adequate customer service. (SER 217–23, 229–30.) The district court in *Garvey* similarly found that customers may have negative reactions to seated cashiers. (*Garvey*, *supra*, 2012 WL 6599534, at p. \*13.) The court explained that sitting affects customer service and efficiency—both in actuality and perception. (*Ibid*.)

Perception is as important as reality when it comes to customer service. As the *Garvey* court explained, a customer's perception helps determine whether that customer will return to the employer's store, or go to a competitor's store. (*Garvey*, supra, 2012 WL 6599534, at p. \*13.) Sitting projects a less ready-to-assist attitude and may "telegraph a message to [customers] in line"—who themselves are standing—"that the convenience of the store and its employees comes first." (*Ibid.*) And, in the particular context of a retail store, the impression left by the cashier is crucial because "[t]he cashier is the last representative encountered by customers as they leave the store." (*Ibid.*) Kilby's suggestion that employers must prove that sitting reduces efficiency and customer service flatly disregards the power of perception. (OB at p. 35 & fn. 11.)

Further, Kilby's suggestion that courts should ignore an employer's subjective business judgment for requiring standing is out of step with well-settled rules in employment law. (See OB at p. 37.) Courts can, and already do, objectively evaluate whether employers' subjective concerns are legitimate. In the discrimination context, courts evaluate whether an employer's stated reasons for its actions are legitimate or pretextual. (Guz, supra, 24 Cal.4th 317, 354–366.) Similarly, courts consider whether an employer had an honest reason to terminate an employee under the good cause standard. (Cotran v. Rollins Hudig Hall Int'l, Inc. (1998) 17 Cal.4th 93, 100.) In doing so, however, "[c]are must be taken . . . not to interfere with the legitimate exercise of managerial discretion." (Ibid.) "Although the [fact finder] must assess the legitimacy of the employer's decision . . . , it should not be thrust into a managerial role." (Id. at p. 101 [emphasis in original]; see also Guz, supra, 24 Cal.4th 317, 358 [the employer's "true reasons need not necessarily have been wise or correct"].)

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